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SUMMARY 

The contributing resources of the Camp Ouachita Girl Scout Camp Historic District were 
constructed by the Civilian Conservation Corps between 1936 and 1938 under the supervision 
of Works Progress Administration (WPA) engineers. These resources were all designed in the 
Rustic style, an aesthetic so popular among public works projects during the Great Depression 
that has since become virtually identified with that era. These resources fall into seven distinct 
building types: administration buildings (7); unithouses (4); bathhouses (4); cabins (22); utility 
and engineering structures (4); foundations (6); and landscape features (3), for a total of fifty 
distinct contributing resources. Also included are various trails, steps and rock walls. 

ELABORATION 

The contributing resources of the Camp Ouachita Girl Scout Camp Historic District were 
constructed by the Civilian Conservation Corps (under the supervision of Works Progress 
Administration engineers) between 1936 and 1938. The extant structures, with the sole 
exception of the concrete dam and three other utility buildings, were of stone masonry and 
wood construction and designed in the Rustic style, an aesthetic that became popular for 
public works projects during the 1930's. They were erected in a semi-circle around the 
northern end of Lake Sylvia, a man-made lake created through the erection of a dam on 
Narrow Creek. 

The buildings were divided into five distinct clusters: an administration area and four 
campsites. The campsites were called Echo Valley, Cliff Top, Tall Timbers and Lakeview. 
A campsite on the eastern side of the lake called Atihcauo (Ouachita spelled backwards), 
which included only a screened pavilion and tenting areas, was added in 1959 and is not 
included in the nomination. 

The contributing resources fall into seven distinct building types: administration buildings (7); 
unithouses (4); bathhouses (4); cabins (22); utility and engineering structures (4); foundations 
(6); and landscape features (3), for a total of fifty distinct contributing resources. Also included 
are various trails, steps and rock walls. 

All the resources listed below are contributing; the only non-contributing resource within the 
district boundary is the later swimming dock at the southern end of the lake. The numbers in 
brackets refer to the numbered structures on the accompanying sketch map. 

Administration Buildings 

Ogden Hall (a.k.a. Great Hall) [#6] 
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Ogden Hall is a two-story, stone masonry and wood mess hall and function building. It 
spreading stone masonry walls rise from the ground and are accented by the twin stone 
chimneys at either end of the auditorium itself. The plan is irregular, as the kitchen and other 
office space extends from the north side of the auditorium and an open, screened porch runs 
almost the full length of the auditorium's southern elevation. Its intersecting gable roof is 
covered with asphalt shingles and ornamented with decorative round, log brackets and exposed 
log purlins at the gable ends. 

It was designed by Thompson, Sanders & Ginnochio, architects, of Little Rock and is the 
only building in the district known to have been designed by an architect. 

Storage Building [#2] 

The Storage Building is a single story, stone masonry building. It features a double-pen plan, 
a continuous stone foundation and the remnants of a wood gable roof. 

Caretaker's Building [#1] 

The Caretaker's Building is a single story, stone masonry building. Its plan is rectangular. It 
is fenestrated throughout with six-over-six wood sash windows. Three fieldstone chimneys rise 
through the roof on the eastern side of the building. Its fieldstone foundation and walls are 
covered with a hipped roof of irregular shape. 

Infirmary [#3] 

The Infirmary is a single story, stone masonry building with a Latin cross plan and an 
intersecting gable roof. It is fenestrated throughout with one-over-one stationary wood 
windows. Its fieldstone walls are supported by a continuous fieldstone foundation. 

Shop Building [#4] 

The Shop Building is a single story, stone masonry building. Its plan is composed of one 
closed pen to the south and another attached pen to the north that is open on its western 
elevation. The continuous fieldstone foundation and fieldstone walls are covered with the 
remnants of a wood frame gable roof. 

Staff Buildings # 1 and #2 [#7 and #8] 

The two Staff Buildings are both quite similar, each being a single story, stone masonry 
building with a wood frame and log gable roof that projects over the front facade and is 
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supported on large, log posts. Log trusses are used beneath the gable roof on the porch, and 
the front elevation below is relieved only by a central entrance. Both are lighted by one­
over-one stationary wood windows. Their continuous fieldstone foundations and fieldstone walls 
are covered with a composition shingle roof. 

Unithouses 

The four Unithouses [#11, #26, #27 and #37] served each of the four campsite clusters and 
were used for campsite meeting, functions, and other group activities within the campsite. All 
four are identical: each is rectangular in plan and entered through a central single-leaf door 
in three of its elevations with an exterior chimney placed in the center of one of the long 
sides. Each entry is flanked with a large window to either side. They are of stone masonry 
construction and covered with a composition shingle gable roof the gable ends of which are 
filled with board-and-batten. 

Bathhouses 

Three of the four Bathhouses [#10, #12 and #34] are identical, with the fourth [#8] being a 
smaller building due to its being intended for use solely by the Director of the camp. The 
other three (there was originally another of this type in the Echo Valley campsite; it has since 
been destroyed and hence is now considered a foundation) were designed for use by the entire 
campsite. They are single story, stone masonry buildings, similar in plan to the Staff Buildings 
seen above in that a wood frame and log gable roof extends out over the stone walls to form 
a front porch supported on log posts and a raised stone platform accessed by stone steps. Log 
trusses support the porch roof deck. The stone section is divided into lavatory and shower 
stalls. 

The smaller Bathhouse is also a single story in height, of stone masonry construction and 
covered with a gable roof. It is sited adjacent to the Director's Cabin. 

Cabins 

The twenty-one of the twenty-two extant Cabins [#13, #14, #15, #16, #17, #18, #19, #20, 
#21, #24, #28, #29, #30, #31, #32, #35, #36, #38, #39, #41 and #42] are identical, with the 
sole exception being the Director's Cabin [#9], which was constructed as an enclosed year­
round residence with a fireplace and chimney. Each of the other twenty-one cabins (called 
"tent platforms" on the accompanying sketch map) is a single story, stone masonry, screened 
shelter with a wood frame and log gable roof that projects out over the front elevation, 
forming a front porch. The porch roof is supported by log posts resting on a raised stone 
platform; the posts are connected by a log balustrade composed of logs set in a diamond­
shaped decorative pattern between horizontal log rails. The porch is accessed from the side 
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via stone steps and features log trusses in the roof. The single pen inside the stone walls is 
unornamented and consists only of a stone floor, the screened walls and the roof. Some of the 
cabins are named, the name plate appearing above the front door. 

Structures 

The Structures include the original concrete dam [#49] (fifty feet in height) at the northern end 
of Lake Sylvia, the two square, concrete water tanks [#47 and #48] located on a rise above 
the lake near the Director's Cabin and the stone masonry pumphouse [#50] located near the 
northern edge of the lake, below the water tanks. 

Landscape Features 

Landscape Features include two round, stone lookouts [#51 and #52] located on the side of 
the rock outcroppings above each end of the dam and the lake itself [#53]; also included are 
an elaborate set of stone steps and rock walls directly behind the former site of the Boathouse 
and Swim Crib at the northwest corner of the lake, the original roads leading into Camp 
Ouachita from Forest Service Road #152 and the network of trails running throughout the 
camp that include a variety of stone steps. 

Foundations 

The Foundations include the remains of six demolished structures: two cabins [#23 and #25] 
and one bathhouse [#22] in the Echo Valley campsite, a Crafts building [#33] near the 
administration area, and the Swim Crib and Boathouse [#40 and #46] at the northwest corner 
of the lake. 

Most of the extant structures within the district are in good condition. A few have lost their 
original roof decking, with some having only a few of the log rafters remaining in place, but 
all that are standing retain sufficient integrity to contribute to the historic significance of the 
district. 
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Criteria A and C, local significance 

The Camp Ouachita Girl Scout Camp Historic District is significant by virtue of its associations 
with both the men that built it, the enrollees of the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) from 
Camp Thornburg, located just to the north of Lake Sylvia, and with the Girl Scouts of America, 
the organization for young girls that formed in the early twentieth-century and quickly became 
popular across the United States. Its contributing resources are also significant by virtue of their 
being outstanding and largely intact examples of the Rustic architectural style that was common 
to CCC construction projects throughout the United States. As such, this district relates to the 
historic context "Recreational Facilities Constructed by the Civilian Conservation Corps in 
Arkansas, 1933-1942" (See Section E, I.). 

Elaboration 

The organization that we know today as the Girl Scouts of America was founded in Savannah, 
Georgia in 1912 by Ms. Juliette Gordon Low. She had met the founder of the Boy Scouts, Sir 
Robert Baden-Powell, during a visit to England the year before and was inspired by his vision 
of an organization that would teach young people certain basic skills of self-sufficiency and 
service that had been lacking in the troops he commanded as a British officer in India. Ms. Low 
started the fledgling Girl Scouts on a strictly local basis initially, though the idea of a national 
organization spread soon thereafter and the need for national leadership was obvious. 
Remarkably, the Girl Scouts' membership swelled almost immediately: in 1913, the -number of 
Girl Scouts in Massachusetts alone grew from 800 to 5,000 within six months. Growth did not 
diminish during the years of World War I, and by 1920 American Girl Scout membership totaled 
over 50,000. 

The prosperous years of the 1920's brought growth also in the programs and goals of the Girl 
Scouts. The first Girl Scout camp, Camp Andree, was established at Briarcliff Manor, New 
York in 1922. It was located on 135 acres of rolling, wooded land, complete with both a lake 
and a brook. This type of rural, forested · location would become the model for such later Girl 
Scout camps as Camp Ouachita. 

Surprisingly, the onset of the Great Depression did nothing but increase the membership and 
activities of the Girl Scouts, and social programs in particular. The national organization's Five 
Year Plan, begun in 1929, had spelled out specific goals for the growth and expansion of the 
Girl Scouts; however, in the face of such daunting national hardships as feeding the hungry and 
keeping the unemployed alive, such organizations found their broader relevance difficult to 
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justify. As one chronicler of the Girl Scouts stated, "Social service organizations with character 
development as their objective looked like a needless luxury to many people who had formerly 
supported them." (Mockler, p. 56). The Girl Scouts responded to the challenge with vigor. Used 
clothing drives, community fruit and canning projects, and preparing hot meals for poor and 

· undernourished children were among the initiatives seized by the Scouts to remedy the pervasive 
problems of the day while maintaining the credibility of the organization. At the same time, a 
recognition of the obligation to recognize the needs of physically handicapped girls resulted in 
Extension Scouting; in 1931, one member of each Regional Committee that attended the annual 
convention was charged with expanding the number of handicapped members in that region. 
These efforts resulted in a seventy per cent increase in handicapped troops by the end of that 
year. By 1932, the total national membership had climbed to 295,940. 

The year 1933 saw the opening and operation of more Girl Scout camps than ever before. 
Camping continued to grow through 1934 into 1935, when a new attendance record was set with 
over 110,000 girls attending camps across the nation. The recognition in that year of a forty per 
cent annual turnover rate in first-year Scouts resulted in a study that recommended, among other 
things, a concerted expansion of the activities made available to Scouts of all ages, including 
camping activities. Such creative pursuits as choral speaking, poetry and sketching supplemented 
such more traditional Scouting activities as nature study, sailing, crafts, woodsmanship, group 
music and various kinds of dance. These were included within structured camping trips each of 
which was tailored to the particular part of the country in which the particular troop would 
camp. Particularly popular were backpacking trips, planned with the help of the Forest Service 
and designed for several of the National Forests around the United States. -

It was early in 1935 that Mrs. M.D. Ogden, representing the Little Rock Council of the Girl 
Scouts approached A. W. Hartman, Forest Supervisor of the Ouachita National Forest regarding 
the selection of a location in the forest to build a Girl Scout camp. The Little Rock Council had 
been organized since 1928 and had been using the Boy Scouts camp at Camp Quapaw (Saline 
County) periodically; however, Girl Scouts around the state (there were 22 Arkansas troops by 
1935) had long dreamed of having their own camp. Hartman responded that he would issue a 
special use permit if a suitable location could be found. By April, the site known as the 
"Narrows," near Thornburg, was identified as an ideal location, as a dam at the northern end 
of Narrow Creek would create a medium-sized lake of approximately twenty acres. Negotiations 
over funding continued from May until September, during which time the Arkansas office of the 
Works Progress Administration denied the Girl Scouts' request for funding to construct the 
camp. In September, Perry County Judge Oscar Brazil agreed to sponsor the camp construction, 
and the special use permit was issued to him. 
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Plans for the darn were not approved until February of 1936, amid further negotiation regarding 
the annual fee the Forest Service would charge to the Girl Scouts for the use of the site. This 
issue was settled to the satisfaction of all, however, and construction began in April. The dam 
was completed the following month, and though there is some confusion over the completion 
date for the fieldstone buildings, it appears as if they were completed by 1938, as a newspaper 
article in the Perry County News dated June 16 of that year mentions a barbecue to be held at 
the "Girl Scout Camp south of Thornburg." R.C. Limerick, WPA Engineering Supervisor, and 
D.B. Cutler, District Director, directed the construction. 

Another of the recommendations of the afore-mentioned study was that Scouts be divided into 
age groups of 8-9, 10-12, 12-14 and 14-18, with different types of activities tailored to the 
typical interests of each age bracket. This organization is reflected in the layout of the camp: the 
Lakeview campsite housed the youngest Scouts (also known as Brownies), Echo Valley hosted 
the next oldest group, Cliff Top the next and Tall Timbers the oldest, or the Senior Girl Scouts. 
The Great Hall was the site for a number of the musical, dramatic and social events, as well as 

· serving as the mess hall; yet the unit houses at each· campsite also sheltered a number of social 
gatherings. Nature talks, duty assignments, games and mail deliveries were just a few of the 
events shared by the Scouts within each separate campsite. The bathhouse at each site also 
concentrated a significant portion of daily life within the campsite and among one's own peers. 

Other activities at Camp Ouachita centered on Lake Sylvia: swimming, canoeing and diving. The 
trails running through the Camp were frequently used for nature walks as well as access routes 
to other trails outside the camp for backpacking trips. · 

The various contributing resources of the Camp Ouachita Girl Scout Camp Historic District are 
all associated with the Civilian Conservation Corps, the public works organization that 
constructed them. Their design is typical of such projects executed by the CCC in Arkansas and 
as an ensemble they survive as one of the best examples of a CCC-constructed camp in the state, 
and certainly the best example within the local area. These structures are also excellent examples 
of the Rustic style made popular by the CCC and other public works agencies during the 1930's; 
they are noteworthy both for their individual design and integrity but also as a remarkably intact 
group. 
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Acreage of property: 

UTM References: 

A) 
C) 
E) 
G) 

15/516230/3858800 
15/516690/3858540 
15/516405/3858105 
15/516140/3858580 

Verbal Boundary Description: 

Approximately 60 

B) 
D) 
F) 

15/516700/3858800 
15/516380/3858540 
15/516050/3858205 

Beginning at a point formed by the intersection of the eastern edge of Forest Service Rd. #152 
(FS 152) with a perpendicular line that leaves FS 152 at the northern edge of the original 
Caretaker's Building driveway, running parallel to and 110 feet north of the northern elevation 
of the Caretaker's Building [#1], proceed easterly along said line for a distance of 1,460 feet 
to a point formed by its intersection with a perpendicular line running parallel to and 100 feet 
east of the eastern elevation of Cabin #19; thence proceed southerly along said line for a 
distance of 740 feet; thence turn southwesterly and proceed along the original southeast camp 
boundary for a distance of 135 feet to the intersection with the northern edge of the ravine 
above Narrow Creek; thence proceed westerly, and then turn southerly, along the rim of said 
ravine to the northern end of the dam [#49]; continue southerly along the eastern elevation of 
both the dam and then the circular lookout [#52] to the south of the dam to a point formed 
by the intersection of said line with a roughly perpendicular line running along the southern 
edge of said circular lookout; thence proceed around Lake Sylvia itself, following the low­
water mark; first westerly, then southwesterly, then southerly, then westerly and then 
northeasterly to a point on the lakeshore 75 feet south of the southern edge of the foundations 
of the Swim Crib [#40]; thence proceed westerly for a distance of 85 feet, then turn 
northwesterly, running parallel to and 45 feet southwest of the southwest elevation of Cabin 
#39 to a point formed by the intersection of said line with the eastern edge of FS 152; thence 
proceed northerly along said edge for a distance of 800 feet to the point of beginning. 

Boundary Justification: 

This boundary includes all the property historically associated with this resource. 
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